I. MR. NASBYS CONVICTION FOR OPEN MURDER AND CONSPIRACY
TO COMMIT MURDER MUST BE REVERSED AS HE WAS DENIED A FAIR
AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL IN THAT THE STATE USED COERCED TESTIMONY
TO OBTAIN THE CONVICTION

II.- MR. NASBY'S CONVICTION FOR OPEN MURDER AND CONSPIRACY
TO COMMIT MURDER MUST BE REVERSED BECAUSE THERE WAS NO
CORROBORATING EVIDENCE

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO PROVIDE A
CAUTIONARY INSTRUCTION TO THE JURY REGARDING
ACCOMPLICE TESTIMONY

IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY
ON "WILLFULNESS, DELIBERATION AND PREMEDITATION."
(INSTR. 12)

V. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENSE MOTION
FOR A MISTRIAL BECAUSE OF THE STATE'S USE OF

Statement of the Case as set forth in his Opening Brief.
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FACTS

Appellant relies upon and incorporates by reference his

Statement of Facts as set forth in his Opening brief.
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ARGUMENT

I. DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY OVERWHELMING
EVIDENCE APART FROM THE ACCOMPLICE TESTIMONY WHICH WAS
COERCED

The State argues that Defendant fails to show how the State

contravened the accepted practice of plea bargaining to secure

favorable testimony . (Respondent ' s Brief , pages 8-9)

The plea bargains in this case cross the line enunciated in

Sheriff v. Acuna , 107 Nev . 664, 819 P . 2d 197 ( 1991 ). While Acuna

embraced the rule that any consideration promised by the State in

exchange for a witness testimony affects only the weight accorded

the testimony, and not its admissibility, the Acuna court did not

condone or endorse the practice of coercing witnesses to testify.

The testimony bargained for by the State between Deskin, and

the Burnside brothers was not merely consideration in exchange

for testimony . Deskin and the Burnside brothers were all either

/I

I/

//
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threatened with contempt or additional charges if they did not

testify. (R.T. Vol. III, p. 148-149; R.T. Vol. V p. 113; R.T. Vol

V p 139) Each had previously given statements contrary to the

testimony they offered at trial (R.T. Vol. III p. 125; R.T. Vol. V

p. 109, line 3- p. 110, line 17; R.T. Vol. V, p. 133, line 10-15).

Threatened with contempt and additional charges the accomplice

testimony at trial conformed to the state theory of the case.

In addition, the State offered the testimony of Brittney

Adams. Ms. Adams testified that the Appellant asked her to kill

Tanesha Banks because Tanesha was "running her mouth. (R.T. Vol.

II, page 228, lines 12-21) Adams testified that she went to

Tanesha Banks home and after a brief conversation began hitting

Tanesha in the head and kicking her. (Id. at page 229, lines 15-

22)

Brittney Adams was charged with first degree kidnapping,

intimidating a witness and battery with intent to commit a crime,

regarding the Tanesha Banks incident. (R.T. Vol.II, page 234,

lines 7-9)

Ms. Adams testified that, "my lawyer negotiated with the D.A.

on my case for me to assist in any way I possibly can in this

case, in reference to they will drop two of the felony charges and

charge the felony battery to commit with -- intent to commit a

crime to a misdemeanor battery." Id. at Page 234 and 235.

Instead of facing the potential sentence of life without the

possibility of parole (NRS 200.230) Ms. Adams was allowed to plead

8
28
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to one misdemeanor count of battery in exchange for her testimony.

While the accepted practice of plea bargaining to secure

favorable testimony is not disfavored such bargaining has crossed

the line in the instant case by the state's use of coercion and

intimidation.

II. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT CORROBORATING EVIDENCE TO
SUSTAIN A CONVICTION

In Sheriff v. Hilliard, 96 Nev. 345, 347 (1980) this court

articulated the standard used to test corroborative evidence.

This court stated,

the sufficiency of corroborative evidence should be
measured after eliminating the evidence which requires
corroboration. After such elimination, corroborative
evidence is sufficient if it tends to connect the
defendant with the offense, and is insufficient if it
merely casts a grave suspicion upon the accused.

(Quoting from Austin v. State, 87 Nev. 578, 491 P.2d 724 (1971)

The State argues that there was substantial corroboration to

bolster the accomplice testimony. The State cites the testimony

of Crystal Bradley and a jailhouse confession that the defendant

allegedly made while at the Clark County Detention center.

(Respondent's Brief, page 12). The State argues that the jury

heard evidence that the Defendant without suggestion or

provocation by Metro, led the police back to his home where the

9mm weapon was found. (Respondent's brief, page 12)

None of this so called corroborative evidence corroborates the

accomplice testimony as to the charge of conspiracy to commit

murder.

9
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III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT INSTRUCTING THE JURY
REGARDING ACCOMPLICE TESTIMONY

The State argues that the Trial Court properly did not

instruct the jury regarding accomplice testimony. Citing Buckley

v. State, 95 Nev. 602, 600 P.2d 227 (1979) the State argues that

failure to give a cautionary instruction "may not constitute

reversible error.... when the jury is instructed that it had the

duty of weighing the witness' credibility" and "where there is

substantial evidence of guilt and where witness motive and

possible bias had been explored through cross-examination."

(Respondent's Brief, page 13)

The Buckley court stated that "while the lower court should

have given the requested instruction, its failure to do so does

not constitute reversible error." Id. at 604-605. The Buckley

decision however, did not overrule Crowe v. State, 84 Nev. 358,

(1968) and was fact specific to Buckley.

In Crowe this court stated that " even when such testimony is

corroborated in critical respects we would favor careful

instructions in form and substance to call attention to the

character of the testimony of the informer, leaving to the jury

the ultimate question of value and credibility." Id.

Crowe went on to say that, "that the instruction should be

beyond the scope of the ordinary instruction that the jury is the

sole judge of the evidence and the weight to be accorded to the

testimony of the witnesses. " Id.

In the instant case the court did not instruct the jury

beyond that of ordinary witness credibility. (Jury Instruction 27)

10
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Notwithstanding the fact specific ruling in Buckley the court

in the instant case was required to give a cautionary instruction

to the jury beyond the standard credibility of witness

instruction. (See Riley v. State, 110 Nev. 638, 653 (1994))

The court's failure to provide the cautionary instruction was

plain error and reviewable by this court sua sponte. This court

may review plain error or issues of constitutional dimension sua

sponte despite a party's failure to raise the issue below. Emons

v. State, 107 Nev. 53, 61, 807 P.2d 718, 723 (1991).

IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY
ON "WILLFULNESS, DELIBERATION AND PREMEDITATION."
(INSTR. 12)

The Appellant argues that the trial court committed

reversible error by not instructing the jury on willfulness,

deliberation and premeditation as set forth in Buford v. State,

116 Nev. , 994 P.2d 700 (2000).

The thrust of the State's argument is that the Byford

instruction is to be applied prospectively and not retroactively.

(Respondent's Brief, page 14) The State draws this inference based

upon the courts language that "we direct the district courts to

cease instructing juries...." However the Buford court did not

directly address the issue of whether its decision was to be

applied retroactively.

In Powell v. State, 108, Nev. 700, 705 (1992) this court

held,

When a case announces a new rule of law, the application of
the rule is prospective unl-ess it is a rule of constitutional law;
and then it is only applied retroactively under certain
circumstances. Gier v. District Court, 106 Nev. 208, 212, 789 P.2d

11
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1245, 1248 (1990). The factors to be weighed in determining
retroactivity are: "(1) the purpose of the rule; (2) the reliance
on prior, contrary law; and (3) the effect retroactive application
would have on the administration of justice." Franklin v. State,
98 Nev. 266, 269 n.2, 646 P.2d 543, 545 n.2 (1982) (citing Tehan
v. United States, 382 U.S. 406 (1966)).

The first question in determining whether the Byford

instruction is to be applied retroactively is whether or not it is

a rule of constitutional law. Appellant argues that it is a rule

of constitutional law. The Buford court stated that "it is clear

from the statute that all three elements, willfulness,

deliberation, and premeditation, must be proven beyond a

reasonable doubt before an accused can be convicted of first

degree murder. Buford, 994 P.2d at

In using the Kazalyn instruction, (Kazalyn v. State, 108 Nev.

67, 75, 825 P.2d 578,583 (1992), the state was not obligated to

prove each element of willfulness, deliberation and premeditation

beyond a reasonable doubt. The Kazalyn instruction violated the

defendant's constitutional right to a fair and impartial trial.

Even if the Buford instruction were not applicable

retroactively this court must review the Appellant's assignment of

error anew and in accord with Buford.

Trial counsel recognized the problem with the Kazalyn

instruction and proposed an alternative instruction.

Mr. Sciscento: As to Jury Instruction No. 12, the
premeditation, I don't believe that it fully provides the jury
instruction as to how to determine what premeditation is. It
doesn't show the time frame for forming intent. My belief is, the
way it's written now, the intent is almost simultaneously.

12
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I propose Jury Instruction No. defense A....

(R.T. Vol. VI page 4, lines 6-17)

In analyzing the Appellant's objection to the Kazalyn

Instruction this court would be required to draw the same

conclusion that it did in Byford which was,

Because deliberation is a distinct element of mens rea
for first-degree murder, we direct the district courts to
cease instructing juries that killing resulting from
premeditation is 'willful deliberate, and premeditated
murder.' Further, if a jury is instructed separately on the
meaning of premeditation, it should also be
instructed on the meaning of deliberation.

Byford, 994 p.2d at 714.

While this court held that failure to give the Byford

instruction was not reversible error, in and of itself, this court

held that the "cumulative effect of multiple errors may violate a

defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial." (Pertgen v.

State, 110 Nev. 554, 566, 875 P.2d 361, 368 (1994)

Appellant argues that the cumulative error as set forth in the

Appellant's Opening and Reply briefs warrant reversal of his

convictions.

28 .11 13
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CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing the Appellant prays this court

reverse his convictions.