2			
3			
4			
5	BRENDAN JAMES NASBY,	)	
6	Appellant,	)	
7	v.	)	CASE NO. 35319
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	)	FILED
9	Respondent.	)	
10		<del></del>	MAY 23 2000
11			JANETTE M. BLOOM CLERKOF SUPREME COURT BY
12	RESPONDENT'S A	NSWERING	BRIEF
13	Appeal From Judg Eighth Judicial Distric	ment Of Court Cla	nviction
14	Eighth Judicial Distric	et Court, Cia	irk County
15			
16	FREDERICK A. SANTACROCE 330 South Third Street	STEWAI Clark Co	RT L. BELL unty District Attorney
17	Suite 860	Nevada E	unty District Attorney Bar No. 000477 unty Court House
18	Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 598-1666	200 South Post Office	unty Court House h Third Street, Suite 701 ce Box 552212

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

T

DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION WAS SUPPORTED BY OVERWHELMING EVIDENCE APART FROM THE ACCOMPLICE TESTIMONY WHICH WAS NOT COERCED BY THE STATE

25

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

26

27

28

Defendant's first argument is that his conviction should be reversed because the State used coerced testimony to convict him. Although he cites to the appropriate case law surrounding this issue, Defendant fails to show how the State contravened the accepted practice of plea bargaining with co-defendants to secure favorable testimony

against a defendant on trial. Moreover, Defendant's contention that the restrictions on the use of accomplice testimony were not followed disregards the evidence that was presented before the jury and thus would be belied and repelled by the record.

Defendant highlights that the current Nevada case law concerning the use of accomplice testimony is encompassed in Sheriff, Humboldt County v. Acuna, 107 Nev. 664, 819 P.2d 197 (1991). In Acuna, this Court specifically overruled the previous decision of Franklin v. State, 94 Nev. 220, 577 P.2d 860 (1978) by holding that:

we now embrace the rule generally prevailing in both state and federal courts, and hold that any consideration promised by the State in exchange for a witness's testimony affects only the weight accorded the testimony, and not its admissibility. Second, we also hold that the State may not bargain for testimony so particularized that it amounts to following a script, or require that the testimony produce a specific result. Finally, the terms of the quid pro quo must be fully disclosed to the jury, the defendant or his counsel must be allowed to fully cross-examine the witness concerning the terms of the bargain, and the jury must be given a cautionary instruction.

Acuna, 107 Nev. at 669. Thus the presumption is that such accomplice testimony is admissible and that the disclosure of the terms of the agreement and an opportunity for full cross-examination of the accomplice help to ensure that the jury will see the testimony in light the accomplice's vested interest in testifying for the State. Furthermore, the Court endorsed the use of such accomplice testimony by the State as a means to the truth by ruling that:

we view as unrealistic the proposition that withholding the benefit of the bargain until after [an accomplice] testifies tends to commit the prosecution to a theory that may be inconsistent with truth or the search for truth....[and]...we are simply unwilling to assume, and therefore base a rule of law upon, the proposition that our prosecutors will sit down with persons vulnerable to prosecution and commit them to testifying perjuriously.

<u>Id.</u> at 668. Therefore, Defendant's reliance upon the "wisdom of <u>Franklin</u>" is misplaced at best and ignores this Court's rationale in reversing <u>Franklin</u> for the more practical and pragmatic rule of <u>Acuna</u>.

In the present case, Defendant devotes much attention in his brief to the crossexamination of Jeremiah, Tommie and Jotee and the instances in which they acknowledge having given inconsistent statements regarding Defendant's culpability for the murder of Michael. (Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 9-13). Moreover, Defendant cites to the record during cross examination of each accomplice when the terms of their respective plea bargains with the State were revealed. <u>Id</u>. However, not only does this illustration overlook that the State elicited the same testimony from each accomplice about their respective plea bargains, but it also reinforces the notion that the safeguards required by Acuna were followed. (RT III, pp. 115-116; RT V, pp. 91, 126-127). Further still, Defense counsel was very thorough in cross examination of each of these accomplices. (RT III, pp. 122-150; RT V, 91-115, 128-140). Defendant's dissatisfaction with the jury's assessment of this evidence cannot be a means for reversing the conviction based on an alleged failure to follow the proscriptions of Acuna. See Dovle v. State, 112 Nev. 879, 921 P.2d 901, 910 (1996) ("It is the jury's function, not the reviewing court, to assess the weight of the evidence and determine the credibility of witnesses. Walker v. State, 91 Nev. 724, 726, 542 P.2d 438, 438-39 (1975)"); Tinch v. State, 113 Nev. 1170, 946 P.2d 1061, 1175 (1997)(Supreme Court does not have the prerogative to determine credibility of witnesses in lower court hearing.). Thus, any claim by Defendant that the precautions of Acuna were not followed

Thus, any claim by Defendant that the precautions of <u>Acuna</u> were not followed is simply belied and repelled by the record of the case. <u>See Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 503, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984)("A defendant seeking post-conviction relief is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on factual allegations belied or repelled by the record."). Accordingly, Defendant's argument that his conviction should be reversed because the State employed coerced testimony is without merit.

26

20

21

22

23

24

25

27

# DEFENDANT'S CONVICTIONS SHOULD BE UPHELD GIVEN THE SUBSTANTIAL AMOUNT OF CORROBORATING EVIDENCE

Defendant next argues that his convictions should be reversed because no corroborating evidence existed pursuant to NRS 175.291.<sup>1</sup> Once again, however, Defendant's argument is simply belied and repelled by the record of the evidence in this case. The State presented substantial evidence other than accomplice testimony that linked the murder of Michael to Defendant.

This Court has required that independent corroboration exist when a conviction involves accomplice testimony. See Sheriff v. Hilliard, 96 Nev. 345, 608 P.2d 1111 (1980); Sheriff, Clark County v. Gordon, 96 Nev. 205, 606 P.2d 533 (1980). However, the evidence necessary for corroboration need not independently establish guilt, but will satisfy NRS 175.291 "if it merely tends to connect the accused to the offense." Cheatham v. State, 104 Nev. 500, 504-505, 761 P.2d 419 (1988); see also Gallego v. State, 101 Nev. 782, 711 P.2d 856 (1985). Moreover, corroboration evidence does not have to be found in a single fact or circumstance, but will sufficiently satisfy the statute if it arises from the circumstances or evidence as a whole. Id. Despite the title of his second section, Defendant only challenges the evidence used to convict him of Conspiracy to Commit Murder. Yet a review of the facts presented to the jury in light of Cheatham reveals that sufficient corroborative evidence existed to convict Defendant.

<sup>1</sup>NRS 175.291 reads in pertinent part:

<sup>1.</sup> A conviction shall not be had on the testimony of an accomplice unless he is corroborated by other evidence which in itself, and without the aid of testimony of the accomplice, tends to connect the defendant with the commission of the offense; and the corroboration shall not be sufficient if it merely shows the commission of the offense or the circumstances thereof.

<sup>2.</sup> An accomplice is hereby defined as one who is liable to prosecution, for the identical offense charged against the defendant on trial in the cause in which the testimony of the accomplice is given.

In <u>Cheatham</u>, this Court held that the circumstances surrounding the murder of the victim supported Defendant's second degree murder conviction. <u>Cheatham</u>, 104 Nev. at 506. The Court specifically ruled that "a chain of events showing the constant association of [the defendant] and the accomplices throughout the day the crime was committed" proved to be sufficient corroborative evidence. <u>Id</u>. This evidence included the defendant's presence with the accomplices before, during and after the commission of the robbery and murder and evidence that the defendant had money on him immediately after the murder. <u>Id</u>. The Court held that all of the evidence taken together was "supplementary to that already given and tend[ed] to strengthen or confirm it." <u>Id</u>. quoting Black's Law Dictionary 311 (5th ed. 1979).

In the present case, the jury heard evidence that Defendant was present with accomplices Jeremiah, Tommie and Jotee on the evening of the murder. (RT III, pp. 79-95; RT V, pp. 88-89, 120-122). The State then presented evidence that Defendant admitted to the murder to Crystal and that he would attempt to make it look like another gang had committed the murder. (RT IV, pp. 43-44, 46). In fact, Crystal told the jury that Defendant had explained to her how he and the three (3) accomplices lured Michael out into the desert under the pretext of going shooting and that after Defendant shot Michael, he was advised and encouraged by his accomplices to retrieve the shells casings because the police might find fingerprint evidence on them. (RT IV, pp. 43-44). Furthermore, the jury heard evidence that Defendant, without suggestion or provocation by Metro, led the police back to his home where the 9mm murder weapon was recovered. (RT IV, pp. 151-153). Lastly, the State presented evidence that while Defendant was in custody at CCDC, he admitted that he had killed Michael because Michael was trying to "take over his stripes" and because "the rest of the hommies wanted him dead." (RT V, pp. 211-213). Therefore, Defendant's claim that there was insufficient independent corroborative evidence to support his convictions is belied and repelled by the record in view of this Court's holding in Cheatham.

2

3

5

6 7

8

10 11

12

13

14 15

16

17

18

19 20

21

22 23

24

25 26

27

28

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DID NOT INSTRUCT THE JURY REGARDING ACCOMPLICE TESTIMONY

Defendant's third assertion is that the trial court committed reversible error by failing to give the jury an instruction regarding accomplice testimony. However, because he neglected to raise this at trial, Defendant cannot now raise this issue on appeal. See generally Pray v. State, 114 Nev. 455, 959 P.2d 530 (1998); Ouillen v. State, 112 Nev. 1369, 929 P.2d 893 (1996); Klein v. State, 105 Nev. 880, 784 P.2d 970 (1989); Pellegrini v. State, 104 Nev. 625, 764 P.2d 484 (1988).

Notwithstanding that flaw in his argument, Defendant still should not prevail as he has misapplied the appropriate case law based on the evidence presented to the jury. As argued above, the jury received a substantial amount of independent corroborative evidence that supported Defendant's convictions. Accordingly, the trial court was not required to give a cautionary instruction regarding accomplice testimony. This Court has previously held that:

[t]he granting of an instruction such as the one now in question is required only when an accomplice's testimony is uncorroborated. Buckley v. State, 95 Nev. 602, 600 P.2d 227 (1979). The Buckley case indicates that a cautionary instruction is "favored" even when the testimony is corroborated in "critical respects" but that the failure to grant it may not constitute reversible error. This is especially true when the jury was instructed that it had the duty of weighing the witness' credibility, where there is substantial evidence of guilt and where the witness' motive and possible bias had been explored through crossexamination.

Howard v. State, 102 Nev. 572, 729 P.2d 1341 (1986) (Emphasis added). The jury was made well aware of the motives and biases that Jeremiah, Tommie and Jotee had in testifying against Defendant when defense counsel vigorously cross examined each accomplice. (RT III, pp. 122-150; RT V, 91-115, 128-140).

Furthermore, Defendant's reliance upon the dicta of <u>Acuna</u> does not accurately represent that concurring opinion. While he acknowledged the reliability concerns of accomplice testimony relevant to informant testimony, Justice Rose never opined that

a trial court "must" give a specific jury instruction that "calls attention to the character of the testimony of the informer." (Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 19). As such, Defendant's argument that his conviction should be reversed because of a missing accomplice instruction to the jury is without merit.

#### IV.

# THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON "WILLFULNESS, DELIBERATION AND PREMEDITATION"

Defendant's next argument is that the trial court incorrectly instructed the jury regarding "willfulness, deliberation and premeditation." Although he accurately points out that this jury instruction has recently been revised by the Nevada Supreme Court, Defendant fails to recognize that the new jury instructions regarding these elements of murder are to be applied prospectively and not retroactively and that a review of the facts of this case would show that the evidence would have sustained a first degree murder conviction even under the new jury instructions for murder.

In <u>Byford v. State</u>, 116 Nev. \_\_\_\_, 994 P.2d 700 (2000), this Court reviewed the long standing instruction for "willfulness, deliberation and premeditation" as set forth in <u>Kazalyn v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 67, 825 P.2d 578 (1992). Of particular note is that this Court changed the instructions in all cases <u>in the future</u>. At the time that the trial court in the instant case gave the murder instructions, the premeditation instruction was clearly good law. Moreover, the Court recognized that it had expressly informed the district courts in prior opinions that the <u>Kazalyn</u> instruction was proper. <u>Byford</u>, 994 P.2d at 713. Therefore, the trial court's reliance on the express holdings of this Court cannot be viewed as plain error.

In addition, the Court's new instruction is not retroactive as indicated by the language of the opinion itself:

Because deliberation is a distinct element of mens rea for first-degree murder, we direct the district courts to cease instructing juries that a killing resulting from premeditation is "willful, deliberate, and premeditated murder." Further, if a jury is instructed separately on the meaning of premeditation, it should also be instructed on the meaning of deliberation.

<u>Id</u>. at 714. (Emphasis added). Furthermore, the <u>Byford</u> decision never held that the <u>Kazalyn</u> instruction was erroneously given, but only that it should not be given in the future and that new instructions are to be used in <u>future</u> cases.

Where a new rule of criminal procedure is not constitutionally based, that new rule is only to apply prospectively. Gier v. Ninth Judicial District Court, 106 Nev. 208, 212, 789 P.2d 1245, 1248 (1990). The new rule announced in Byford is not a constitutional rule. This Court was concerned that the instructions given may have blurred the distinction between first and second degree murder as set forth in the Nevada Revised Statutes. Id. at 712-714. As such, the Court has determined that the statutory definition of deliberate is different from that of premeditated, and giving an instruction defining "premeditated" and not "deliberate" may emphasize one element over another. Id. The Court never stated in Byford that the new rule was based on any constitutional consideration. Therefore, this new "rule" is only based on the Court's concern that the old instructions did "not do full justice to the phrase 'willful, deliberate, and premeditated," and set forth new instructions the Court felt would more clearly define the phrase. Id.

The conclusion that <u>Byford</u> should not be held retroactive is supported by the case law underlying the decision. In <u>Byford</u>, the Court heavily relied on <u>State v. Brown</u>, 836 S.W.2d 530 (Tenn. 1992). The Tennessee courts have had repeated opportunities to review the application of <u>Brown</u> and have unanimously determined that the decision is not retroactive. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>State v. Hall</u>, 958 S.W.2d 679 (Tenn. 1997); <u>Harris v. State</u>, 947 S.W.2d 156 (Tenn.Crim.App. 1996); <u>Lofton v. State</u>, 898 S.W.2d 246 (Tenn.Crim.App. 1994). Not only did the Tennessee Supreme Court hold that <u>Brown</u> is not retroactive to post-convictions proceedings, but, additionally, it is not retroactive to direct appeals or motions for new trials. <u>State v. Hall</u>, 958 S.W.2d 679, 711 (Tenn. 1997), <u>cert. denied</u>, <u>Hall v. Tennessee</u>, 524 U.S. 941 (1998)(finding the defendant could not base a motion for a new trial on <u>Brown</u> because <u>Brown</u> was decided two months after the jury verdict).

Tennessee's state rule on retroactivity is similar to that in Nevada. In Tennessee, a new rule which does not implicate a constitutional right is not to be applied retroactively. See State v. Hall, 958 S.W.2d 679, 711 (Tenn. 1997)(citing Meadows v. State, 849 S.W.2d 748, 754 (Tenn. 1993)). The Court then held that the unanimous opinion of the courts that have reviewed the Brown decision have determined that it did not create a constitutional rule, either state or federal. Id. The Court held that the Brown decision did not find the old premeditation instruction had violated a constitutional right, but rather that it would be prudent to abandon the old instruction and give new instructions because of the potential for confusion (the same ruling that was made by this Court in Byford.) Hall, 958 S.W.2d at 711 (citing Lofton, 898 S.W.2d at 249-50). Tennessee's determination that it did not create a new constitutional rule was concurred with by the United State's Court of Appeals Sixth Circuit. Houston v. Dutton, 50 F.3d 381, 384 (6th Cir.1995).

As such, there is no authority for the proposition that <u>Byford</u> should be held to apply retroactively. For over a century, first degree murder in Nevada has been defined as murder which is willful, premeditated and deliberate. <u>See State v. Wong Fun</u>, 22 Nev. 336, 341, 40 P. 95, 96 (1895). In the intervening time, that definition has not changed. <u>Id</u>. at 713-714. The only difference is the manner in which the jury is to be instructed. Moreover, instructions defining deliberation and premeditation are not even required because they mean nothing "other than in their ordinary sense." <u>Id</u>. at n. 3 (quoting <u>Ogden v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 258, 263, 607 P.2d 576, 579 (1980)). As such, any change in instructions is a state law decision not implicating the Constitution. <u>Houston v. Dutton</u>, 50 F.3d 381, 384 (6th Cir.1995). Therefore, <u>Byford</u> is not to be retroactively applied, and Defendant's argument that the trial court committed reversible fails.

Alternatively, the facts of this case would nonetheless meet the requirements of the revised jury instructions announced in <u>Byford</u>. In <u>Byford</u>, this Court specifically delineated three (3) separate definitions for willfulness, deliberation and premeditation.

Byford, 994 P.2d at 714. The Court succinctly held that willfulness simply is the intent to kill with no "appreciable space of time between formation of the intent and the act of killing." Id. Clearly Defendant willfully murdered Michael as evidenced by the prior discussions Defendant had one (1) month earlier to kill Michael and by the execution style in which the homicide occurred. (RT III, pp. 76-78, 100-103).

Regarding deliberation, this Court focused upon a defendant's thought process in "weighing the reasons for and against the action and considering the consequences of the action." Byford, 994 P.2d at 714. The Court highlighted that the deliberate determination must not result from passion or "rash impulse." Id. In this case, Defendant obviously had formed the deliberate intention of his actions in light of a variety of facts. First, Defendant ordered Jeremiah to pick up Michael so that they may take him to the desert and kill him (RT III, pp. 80-81). Next, Defendant entered Jeremiah's car and rode to the desert as the only person armed with a gun. (RT III, pp. 91-94). Finally, after having shot Michael twice in the neck/back area, Defendant got out of Jeremiah's car and shot him a third time in the head. (RT III, pp. 101-107). None of those facts could be interpreted in any other way than Defendant taking deliberate steps to murder Michael.

For premeditation, this Court emphasized the necessary design or determination to kill to substantiate this element of first degree murder. <u>Byford</u>, 994 P.2d at 714-715. Undoubtedly, the State presented overwhelming evidence that the murder of Michael was premeditated. Defendant held a meeting with other gang members one (1) month prior to the shooting. (RT III, pp. 76-78). The "plan" concocted to murder Michael included the ruse of going to the desert to shoot guns and smoke "weed," but no one but Defendant had a gun and no one had any "weed." (RT III, pp. 91-94). In the desert, Defendant got Jeremiah to position his car closer to the edge of the wash presumably so that he would have an illuminated view as he shot Michael. (RT III, pp. 97-99). Furthermore, Defendant approached Michael from behind to shoot him so that Michael would have no way of knowing he was about to be murdered. (RT III, pp.

100-103). Certainly, these facts illustrate Defendant's scheme to execute Michael in a precise fashion.

Additionally the facts of this murder are strikingly similar to those of the <u>Byford</u> case in which this Court found "evidence...clearly sufficient to establish deliberation and premeditation." <u>Byford</u>, 994 p.2d at 712. In <u>Byford</u>, as in this case, there had been previous talk of killing the victim. <u>Id</u>. Moreover, the defendants in <u>Byford</u> first shot the victim "in the absence of any provocation, confrontation, or stressful circumstances of any kind" and then shot the victim again as she "helpless on the ground." <u>Id</u>. at 712-713. In the present case, Defendant shot Michael twice before he got out of Jeremiah's car to finish him off with a third shot to the head. There can be no clearer evidence than this of Defendant's deliberate determination and premeditated plan to murder Michael. Thus, even though the trial court did not give the new jury instruction required by <u>Byford</u> for first degree murder cases, the error was harmless at best in light of the hauntingly similar facts.

V.

# THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL BASED ON THE PROSECUTOR'S OPENING STATEMENT

Defendant's last contention is that the prosecution made inappropriate remarks during the opening statement including the alleged display of a three (3) page document written by Defendant. Defendant further alleges that the prosecutor made these comments contrary to the trial court's instruction. However, a review of the record illustrates that the trial court had not yet ruled on the admissibility of the document and the prosecutor never did present the document to the jury.

During the opening statement, the prosecutor referenced a letter Defendant had written that was to be a script for a potential defense witness. (RT II, pp. 189-191). The prosecutor never mentioned anything about intimidation nor any other acts by Defendant that would constitute prior bad acts. Defense counsel objected at the time the statement was made, but the trial court correctly overruled the objections. (RT II,

pp. 190, 199-205). The trial court astutely noted that a ruling had not yet been made and that both the prosecutor and defense counsel were free to tell the jury what they believed the evidence would be at trial. (RT II, p. 203). Furthermore, the prosecutor stated that in fact he had not shown the jury the actual letter, but was using his trial notes as a prop. (RT II, p. 204).

Nevertheless, assuming that the statement was an inappropriate remark, prosecutorial misconduct is harmless error when there is overwhelming evidence of guilt presented to the jury. Jones v. State, 107 Nev. 632, 817 P.2d 1179 (1991)("[T]his court will not reverse a verdict on the basis of prosecutorial misconduct when the defendant failed to object, there was overwhelming evidence of guilt, and the offensive remarks did not contribute to the verdict."); Barron v. State, 105 Nev. 767, 783 P.2d 444 (1989); Snow v. State, 101 Nev. 439, 705 P.2d 632 (1985).

The harmless error test is whether there is a reasonable possibility for a more favorable result absent the alleged error. Lord v. State, 107 Nev. 28, 806 P.2d 548 (1991). In this case, the evidence of Defendant's guilt was clear. Even if the prosecutor never made the statements complained of, it is reasonably probable that the result would have been the same. Thus, if there was prosecutorial misconduct in this case, which the State contends there was not, it was harmless error, and would not justify reversal.

Defendant's attack on his conviction because of comments made by the prosecutor during the opening statement is without merit, and the conviction should be upheld.

25

26

27

## **CONCLUSION**

In the final analysis, the Defendant's appeal should be denied. Defendant fails to set forth any viable bases for overturning a valid conviction under the current law.

Thus, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court DENY the Defendant's appeal.